I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR AND ISSUES OF 
APPEAL 

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

The Superior Court erred in denying Mr. Egan's ("Egan") 
Anti-SLAPP Motion to Strike the City of Seattle ("City") 
lawsuit for an injunction against him. 1 CP 626 et seq. 

B. ISSUES ON APPEAL 

1. Did the Trial Court err when it found as a matter of 
law that Egan has not carried his initial burden under 
RCW 4.24.5425( 4)(b) by a preponderance of the 
evidence that the City's claim is based on an action 
involving public participation and petition, when the 
mere fact of requesting public documents and suing 
or threatening to sue to obtain the documents are 
examples of public participation and petition, and the 
numerous uses Egan has put to documents in which 
he has obtained in the past, including giving them to 
the press, publishing them on the internet, and using 
them as a basis for publicly asking Seattle's Mayor to 
fire the police chief, are overwhelming examples of 
public participation and petition? (Assignment A.) 

2. Did the Trial Court err when it concluded that the 
injunction provisions of RCW 42.56.540 may be 
used any time a requestor threatens to sue for failure 

1 Specific Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law have not been entered by King 
County Superior Court The Honorable Dean Lum. 
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to disclose documents when the circumstances of the 
present case did not satisfy the duel requirements of 
RCW 42.56.540 that the document request must not 
be in the public interest and would substantially and 
irreparably damage any person or would substantially 
and irreparably damage vital governmental functions . 
. . "? (Assignment A.) 

3. Did the Trial Court err when it concluded, based on 
its interpretation of the injunction provisions RCW 
42.56.540, that the phrase "based on an action 
involving public participation and petition" in the 
Anti-SLAPP statute does not include the public 
records request itself, when the circumstances of the 
present case did not satisfy the duel requirements of 
RCW 42.56.540 that the document request must not 
be in the public interest and would substantially and 
irreparably damage any person or would substantially 
and irreparably damage vital governmental functions . 
. . "? (Assignment A.) 

4. Did the Trial Court err in concluding that the 
provisions of RCW 9.73.090(1 )( c) govern the 
documents in question in this case when among other 
things, the statute does not apply to conversations 
between traffic stop detainees and arresting officers. 
(Assignment A.) 

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. SUBSTANTIVE FACTS 

James C. Egan is an attorney emphasizing criminal 

defense in King, Pierce, and Snohomish Counties, with an 
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interest in civil rights plaintiffs work. CP 111. In July of2011, 

Egan received three complete files of internal investigations 

conducted by the Seattle Police Department ("SPD") pursuant 

to a public disclosure request Egan had made in May 2011 (CP 

112); one of those files referenced a SPD Officer being 

reprimanded for, among other things, saying to a detainee "My 

badge is the only thing preventing me from skull fucking you 

and dragging you down the street." CP 112. 

Egan's first public disclosure request for this video was 

denied by the SPD alleging it would violate the subject's "right 

to privacy under RCW 9.73.090(1)(c)." CP 149. The subject 

was not identified, but Egan determined who he was through 

research, and after writing him, the subject and his passenger 

agreed to help Egan obtain the in-car video through Egan's 

representation of them. CP 112-113. Thus, in August 2011, 

Egan made a request for the in-car videos as Miguel Oregon's 

and Hugo Perez' lawyer and after "additional time" was needed 

to respond, Egan finally received the videos on September 9, 

3 



2011 (hereinafter called the "Oregon/Perez video(s)"). CP 154. 

The video is not in the record, but may be viewed at -

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=m9jhmXszDxO. 

In comparing the video with the Internal Investigation 

findings and the police report in the Oregon/Perez matter, it was 

immediately apparent to Egan that the officers had not been 

truthful in their police report or interviews with the Office of 

Professional Accountability ("OP A"), an SPD department 

tasked with investigating complaints of police misconduct. CP 

113. 

Egan identified 36 other videos that were reviewed by the 

OP A in connection with other investigations of the four officers 

in the OregonlPerez video. CP 157-159. These four officers; 

Officer Corey Williams, Brett Schoenberg, Casey Steiger and 

Daniel Auderer, each had only about two years on the force at 

the time of the Oregon/Perez encounter, with an average of nine 

misconduct reviews for each officer by OP A. Egan made a 
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request for these specific videos on September 23, 2011. CP 

157-159. 

On November 30, 2011, Egan finally received a response 

to the September 23, 2011 request, which denied the request, 

stating that no videos will be produced "until final disposition 

of any litigation which arises from the incident." CP 166-168. 

The City also stated (without citation) that the production of 

these videos containing possible misconduct of officers "would 

violate the subject's right to privacy." CP 166-168. 

The November 30, 2011 response gave Egan ten days to 

"appeal" to the police chief if Egan disagreed with the denial. 

CP 166-168. On December 7, 2011, Egan wrote a two-page 

appeal letter addressing what Egan saw as pretexts for denying 

disclosure. CP 170. 

On December 16, 2011, a Department of Justice ("DOJ") 

investigation decision was published and made front page news. 

http://www.justice.gov/crt/about/spl/seattlepd.php. SPD Chief 

Diaz made statements that Egan interpreted as being dismissive 
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about the findings. CP 178-182, 184. After SPD Chief Diaz's 

refusal to acknowledge the internal problems at the SPD, Egan 

contacted the media with a redacted, transcribed version of the 

Oregon/Perez Video. CP 128-129. Egan gave interviews with 

television channels KIRO 7, KOMO 4, KING 5 and KCPQ 13, 

(CP 186-187) as well as interviews with the Stranger and the 

Seattle Weekly magazines. CP 128-129. Each media outlet 

covered the issue prominently, in some cases as its top story in 

that night's news. See, e.g., 

www.komonews.com/news/locall137061103.html. Egan also 

started posting all the in-car videos and documents from the 

OregonlPerez matter on Egan's website. CP 186-187, 189-191. 

On December 19, 2011, Egan was contacted by a 

national television news organization, "Right This Minute," 

("RTM") which regularly features "viral videos." CP 126. 

Egan conducted an interview with RTM which was aired as a 

top story on December 20, 2011 in 48 major cities around the 

6 



country and the clip remains online for further viewing and 

dissemination at www.rightthisminute.com. CP 126. 

On December 28, 2011, Seattle Assistant City Attorney 

Mary Perry wrote an email stating that Egan's December 7, 

2011 appeal of the denial of the September 23,2011 request for 

36 videos had then been referred to her for "review and 

response," and that a response to the appeal would be provided 

"on or before January 6, 2012." CP 193. 

On January 4, 2012, Egan was sued by the City of Seattle 

for making the September 23, 2011 public records request. CP 

1-7. 

On January 10,2012, Egan made an additional, separate 

public disclosure request wherein Egan requested the same 36 

videos in question but asked that the audio in the video be 

redacted. CP 195-196. On January 11,2012, this second request 

was denied and Assistant City Attorney Perry amended the 

City'S complaint against Egan to include the issue that Egan 
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made another Public Records Request for "silent videos." CP 

198, 26-33. 

Since the lawsuit was filed, Egan determined that just in 

the years 2008 and 2009, there were at least 80 denials of 

Public Records Requests sent by the SPD to various citizens 

and lawyers who made such requests. CP 130, 207-222. Several 

involved denied requests for in-car videos. CP 207-222. Egan 

also requested and received a "first installment" of appeals of 

public disclosure requests (letters to the Chief after requests had 

been denied) through a separate public record request. CP 207-

222. To Egan's knowledge, none of the 80 people who were 

denied requests, or the four whom Egan was aware had 

appealed, were sued by the City of Seattle for those requests. 

CP 207-222. 

B.PROCEDURALFACTS 

On January 4, 2012, the City filed suit against Egan 

asking the Superior Court to issue a declaratory judgment that 

would prevent Egan from obtaining 36 specific in-car police 

8 



videos that he believed were relevant to his clients' cases. CP 1-

7. The original argument date was set for June 17, 2013. The 

City then filed a Motion for Declaratory Judgment and 

Preliminary Injunction under R~W 42.56.540. This accelerated 

the argument date to February 28,2012. CP 56-76. 

The City had already been sued by Fisher Broadcasting 

("KOMO") for the denial of KOMO's request of the release of 

in-car videos. Fisher Broadcasting (KOMO) v. City of Seattle, 

. No. 12-2-00938-4 SEA, currently on petition for direct review 

to the Supreme Court. CP 608-621. In the KOMO case, the 

·i City claimed that disclosure was barred by RCW 

9.73.090(1)(c). CP 355. This case was to be heard in front of 

Judge Rogers in April 2012. CP 86-90. 

The issues in each of those cases, Egan and KOMO, were 

practically identical. CP 94-107. The distinction was that Egan 

requested 36 specific videos, some of which were related to his 

clients' cases, and KOMO had requested all of the SPD's in-car 

videos. CP 157-158. 
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The City advised KOMO that it had sued Egan, seeking 

declaratory and injunctive relief on its interpretation of RCW 

9.73.090(1)(c) because the City knew that the same issue was 

pending in the KOMO case. CP 86-89. Because of this, KOMO 

moved to intervene, with the City's consent and the trial court 

granted the motion. CP 86-89. 

On February 22, 2012, Egan filed a motion to strike and 

dismiss the City's Amended Complaint, pursuant to RCW 

4.24.525, Washington's Anti-SLAPP law. CP 230-252. 

On February 28, 2012, oral argument in the present case 

was continued until after Judge James Rogers issued his ruling 

in the KOMO case. CP 287. On April 6, 2012, Judge Rogers 

ruled that RCW 9.73.090(l)(c) and RCW 42.56.540 prevented 

the City from releasing in-car videos to KOMO. KOMO has 

sought direct review of this ruling to the Washington Supreme 

Court. CP 608-621. 

On June 1, 2012, King County Superior Court, the 

Honorable Dean Lum, heard additional argument on the present 
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case. CP 525. During the hearing, the Court questioned the City 

about the lawsuit, particularly because the same underlying 

issue was already being litigated in the KOMO case. CP 525-

533. 

On June 26, 2012, the Trial Court issued an Order 

dismissing the City's request for an injunction, awarded Egan 

attorney fees and costs under CR 11, and dismissed Egan's 

Anti-SLAPP motion. CP 601-607. 

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

There are no disputed issues of material fact. Rather, the 

issue is the legal characterization of how the Anti-SLAPP law 

applies to the facts of this case, which is a question of law to be 

reviewed de novo. See, e.g., Erwin v. Cotter Health Ctrs. , 161 

Wn.2d 676, 687, 167 P.3d 1112 (2007) (application of law to 

the facts of a case is a question of law reviewed de novo). 
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IV. ARGUMENT 

The City's lawsuit against Egan amounts to a Strategic 

Lawsuit Against Public Participation (SLAPP), barred by 

Washington's 2010 Anti-SLAPP statute RCW 4.24.525. 

RCW 4.24.525(4)(a) states that "[a] party may bring a 

special motion to strike any claim that is based on an action 

involving public participation and petition, as defined in 

subsection (2) of this section." RCW 4.24.525(4) states that, in 

relevant part: 

"(b) A movmg party bringing a special 
motion to strike a claim under this subsection 
has the initial burden of showing by a 
preponderance of the evidence that the claim is 
based on an action involving public 
participation and petition. If the moving party 
meets this burden, the burden shifts to the 
responding party to establish by clear and 
convincing evidence a probability of prevailing 
on the claim. If the responding party meets this 
burden, the court shall deny the motion. 

There are few cases interpreting Washington's Anti-

SLAPP statute; but case law interpreting the California Anti-
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SLAPP statute IS persuaSIve precedent as to guidance for 

application of Anti-SLAPP law for public participation 

because the Washington statute was patterned after the 

California statute. 

A. CALIFORNIA ANTI-SLAPP CASE 
LAW IS PERSUASIVE 

The 2010 amendments to Washington's Anti-SLAPP law 

are "patterned after California's Anti-SLAPP Act" Aronson v. 

Dog Eat Dog Films, 738 F. Supp.2d 1104, at 1109 (2010). 

"[P]arties cite to California law as persuasive authority for 

interpreting the Washington amendments" Aronson, at 1110. 

"RCW 4.24.525 is of such recent vintage that there have 
been few cases construing it in the months since it was 
enacted.... This court looks to California precedent as 
persuaSIve authority concerning the new Anti-SLAPP 
statute." 

Castello v. City of Seattle, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 

127648; 39 Media L. Rep. 1591; 2010 WL 4857022. 

13 



B. CALIFORNIA ANTI-SLAPP LAW PROTECTS 
PRE-LITIGATION COMMUNICATION 

California has nearly 20 years of anti-SLAPP case law 

and over 300 published decisions, compared with a handful in 

Washington State. The California cases include a number of 

cases where the Anti-SLAPP statute applied to claims against 

defendants based upon statements made in anticipation of 

litigation, including statements of intent to sue. 

In Equilon Enterprises, LLC v. Consumer Cause, 124 

Cal.Rptr.2d 507, 29 Ca1.4th 53 (2002) the Defendant, 

Consumer Cause, had served the Plaintiff, Shell and Texaco oil 

companies, a notice of its intent to sue for violations of a 

California health and safety statute alleging the Plaintiff had 

polluted ground waters in Southern California. Rather than 

request clarification, the oil companies served Common Cause 

a claim for declaratory and injunctive relief. Id. This prompted 

Consumer Cause to bring a motion to dismiss the suit under 

California's anti-SLAPP statute. Id. 
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The oil compames argued that to prevail on the Anti

SLAPP motion, Consumer Cause should have to show that the 

request for declaratory and injunctive relief was filed with the 

intent to chill Consumer Cause's exercise of constitutional 

speech or petition rights. Id. The California Supreme Court 

disagreed and stated "[w]hile it may well be [that the oil 

companies] had pure intentions when suing Consumer Cause, 

such intentions are ultimately beside the point." Id. at 67. 

Consumer Cause was not required to prove the oil companies' 

subjective intent. Id. Furthermore, the Court found that the oil 

companies' suit arose from Consumer Cause's activity in 

furtherance of its constitutional rights of speech or petition, i.e. 

the sending intent to sue notice that was served on the oil 

companies. Id. Since the oil companies failed to establish a 

probability of prevailing in their claim, the Anti-SLAPP motion 

was properly granted. Id. 

While the oil companies purported "to have sought 

declaratory relief solely in order to 'get clarification of what 

15 



they had to do' to avoid .. . liability" they neglected to mention 

"that they also sought injunctive relief that expressly would 

restrict Consumer Cause's exercise of petition rights." Equilon, 

at 519, fn 4.2 

The Equilon case is directly on point to the present case. 

Just as in Equilon, the City filed an order for declaratory and 

injunctive relief against Egan that would permanently prevent 

Egan from obtaining the records he requested. The City claimed 

it did this to "avoid liability," get "judicial guidance," and 

"because he (Egan) threatened to sue us." 

The public records request, and subsequent appeal letter, 

are no different than the intent-to-sue notices in Equilon. 

California case law makes it clear that pre-litigation letters and 

threats to sue are protected petition activity. "[The Anti-

SLAPP] does not limit its application to certain types of 

2 "The right of access to the courts is indeed but one aspect of the right of petition." 
California Motor Transport v. Trucking Unlimited 404 U.S. 508, 510, 92 S. Ct. 609, 612, 
30 L.Ed. 2d 642 (1972). Also, constitutional doctrine was further established: "Those 
who petition the government are generally immune from liability [for doing so]" Real 
Estate Investors v. Columbia Pictures 508 Us 49, 113 S. Ct. 1920, 1926, 123 L.Ed. 2d 
611 (1993). 
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petition activity." Beilenson v. Superior Court, 44 Cal.AppAth 

944, 949 (1996); See also Navarette v. Holland, 134 

Cal.Rptr.2d 403 109 Cal. AppAth 13 (2003) (even a police 

report filed by plaintiff's ex-wife, alleged to have been false, 

was regarded as public participation and petition.) "The 

pleadings and the affidavits submitted by the parties establish 

that Equilon's action for declaratory and injunctive relief is one 

arising from Consumer Cause's activity in furtherance of its 

constitutional rights of speech or petition - viz., the filing of 

Proposition 65 intent-to-sue notices." Equilon, at 518. 

In Dove Audio, Inc. v. Rosenfeld, Meyer & Susman, 54 

Cal.Rptr.2d 830, 47 Cal.AppAth 777 (1996), Audrey Hepburn 

and 13 other celebrities had recorded an album where a portion 

of the royalties from the sale of the record were supposed to go 

to the celebrities' charity of choice. After Ms. Hepburn's death, 

her estate became aware that her designated charity had not 

received virtually any of the royalties that it was entitled to 

from Dove Audio. Id. Ms. Hepburn's estate retained a law firm, 
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and the law firm sent letters to the other celebrities and the 

other charities, informing them of the situation and stating it 

intended to file a legal complaint with the State Attorney 

General's Office. Id. Once the recording company became 

aware of these letters it filed a law suit against the law firm 

claiming libel and interference with an economic relationship. 

Id. The law firm countered by bringing an Anti-SLAPP motion. 

Id. 

The court ruled that the law firm's letter announcing an 

intention to take legal action was covered by the Anti-SLAPP 

law because it was an act in furtherance of the law firm's 

constitutional right of petition. Id. The letter raised a question 

of public interest and was in connection with an official 

proceeding authorized by law; i.e. a proposed complaint to the 

Attorney General seeking an investigation. Id. "The 

constitutional right to petition . .. includes the basic act of 

filing litigation or otherwise seeking administrative action." Id. 

at 784. "Just as communications preparatory to or in 
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anticipation of the bringing of an action or other official 

proceeding are within the protection of [California's litigation 

privilege law] we hold that such statements are equally entitled 

to the benefits of [California's Anti-SLAPP law]." Id. 

In both the Equilon and the Dove A udio cases, the 

Defendant had met its initial burden of establishing that the 

lawsuit was based on public participation (namely conduct in 

furtherance of petition rights), and the burden was shifted to the 

Plaintiff to establish the merits of its case. Neither plaintiff in 

Equilon nor Dove Audio was able to establish prima facie 

evidence that they would prevail on their claims. Hence, the 

plaintiffs' actions were dismissed under Anti-SLAPP law. 

C. Egan's public records request are both actions 
involving public participation and petition under 
RCW 4.24.525 

When determining if the Anti-SLAPP law applies to the 

present matter, the Court must first examine whether the Egan's 

actions constitute "public participation and petition under RCW 

4.24.525." RCW 4.24.525(2) states that: 
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"This section applies to any claim, however 
characterized, that is based on an action 
involving public participation and petition. As 
used in this section, an "action involving public 
participation and petition" includes: 

(a) Any oral statement made, or written 
statement or other document submitted, in a 
legislative, executive, or judicial proceeding or 
other governmental proceeding authorized by 
law; 

(b) Any oral statement made, or written 
statement or other document submitted, in 
connection with an issue under consideration or 
review by a legislative, executive, or judicial 
proceeding or other governmental proceeding 
authorized by law;

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