69129.5

69129-5

No. 69129-5-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JAMES C. EGAN,

Appellant,

VS.

CITY OF SEATTLE,

Respondent.

CORRECTED BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

PETER S. HOLMES Seattle City Attorney

Mary F. Perry, WSBA #15376 Assistant City Attorney Seattle City Attorney's Office 600 – 4th Avenue, 4th Floor P.O. Box 94769 Seattle, Washington 98124-4769 (206) 684-8200 Attorneys for Respondent City of Seattle

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

510 F.3d 1196, 1201 (10th Cir. 2007). ("The City is not compelled by the *First Amendment* to provide information to Mr. Shero but must only provide the [public records] to him under *state* law.") (emphasis in original.)

The United States Supreme Court has distinguished the Washington PRA from activity protected by the First Amendment. "The PRA is not a prohibition on speech, but instead a disclosure requirement. '[D]isclosure requirements may burden the ability to speak, but they ... do not prevent anyone from speaking.' ".

Doe. No. 1 v. Reed, U.S. , 130 S.Ct. 2811, 2818, 177 L.Ed.2d 493, (2010).

Washington courts similarly hold that the PRA is a statutorily created means of accessing public records, and the First Amendment does not compel the government to supply particular information. *King County Dept. of Adult and Juvenile Detention v. Parmelee*, 162 Wn.App. 337, 358, 254 P.3d 927 (2011), review denied 175 Wash.2d 1006, 285 P.3d 885. *See also, City of Tacoma v. Tacoma News, Inc.*, 65 Wn.App. 140, 151, 827 P.2d 1094 (1994), review denied 119 Wn.2d 1020, 838 P.2d 692 (1992) (the right to government information is "no more and no less than what the legislature has chosen to grant by statute.")

Even a *wrongful* denial of records in response to a statutory open records provision is not a First Amendment violation. *Shero v. City of Grove*, 510 F.3d at 1202. Mr. Shero had requested copies of records called "council packets", and informed the city in writing of his intent to sue after his request was denied. The city's attorney filed declaratory a judgment action in state court under the

Oklahoma Open Records Act ("OORA") and Shero filed a counterclaim seeking a ruling that the council packets were public records subject to disclosure. The state court ruled that the city wrongfully denied Shero's request for council packets, and the city paid Shero \$28,000 to settle his OORA claim. *Id.* at 1199.

Shero then brought a 42 U.S.C. § 1983 action in federal court alleging, among other things, that the city violated his First Amendment rights when it refused to provide him the council packets as required by state law. Similar to Egan's arguments that the City retaliated against him because of how he intended to use the videos, Shero claimed that the city retaliated against him and attempted to chill his speech about government corruption at city council meetings by rejecting his requests for council packets. Citing *Houchins*, the court rejected Shero's arguments:

Clearly, then, Mr. Shero has no First Amendment right to receive the council packets from the City, but rather only a state right under the OORA as the state court held. The City is not compelled by the *First Amendment* to provide information to Mr. Shero but must only provide the council packets to him under *state* law, and Mr. Shero has already received his remedy in state court.

Id. at 1202. (emphasis in original).

Notably, the *Shero* court also held that the city's declaratory judgment action was not retaliatory, "the nature and purpose of a declaratory judgment is to declare rights, not to attack the opposing party." *Id.* "Being properly named as a defendant in a declaratory judgment suit, however styled, would not chill a person

of ordinary firmness from continuing to engage in constitutionally protected activity" *Id*.

A PRA request falls well short of the "'heartland' of First Amendment activities that the Washington Legislature envisioned when it enacted the anti-SLAPP statute." *Jones*, 2012 WL 1899228.

A. The City's Declaratory Judgment Action Was Not Based on Protected Activity: It Was Based on an Actual, Present Dispute.

The first-prong analysis requires a court to review the parties' pleadings, declarations and other supporting documents to determine whether the gravamen of the underlying claim is based on protected activity.

A defendant filing an anti-SLAPP motion to strike "must make an initial prima facie showing that the plaintiff's suit arises from an act in furtherance of defendant's right of petition or free speech." *Braun v. Chronicle Publ'g Co.*, 52 Cal.App.4th 1036, 1042-43, 61 Cal.Rptr.2d 58 (1997). If the substance, or gravamen, of the complaint does not challenge defendant's acts in furtherance of the right of free speech or petition, the court does not consider whether the complaint alleges a cognizable wrong or whether the plaintiff can prove damages. *Coretronic Corp. v. Cozen O'Connor*, 192 Cal. App. 4th 1381, 1389-90, 1221 Cal.Rptr.3d 254 (2011).

A claim is not a SLAPP just because it is filed in response to, or even in retaliation for, threatened litigation— Even if the court views it as an oppressive

Cal. Rptr. 2d 519 (2002). When evaluating whether the moving party meets its threshold burden, a court must look to the "principle thrust or gravamen of the plaintiff's cause of action." *Martinez v. Metabolife Internat. Inc.*, 113 Cal.App. 4th 181, 187, 6 Cal. Rptr 3d 494 (2003). Similarly, this Court must focus on the gravamen of the City's declaratory judgment action; otherwise, it risks allowing a party "to circumvent the showing expressly that an alleged SLAPP *arise from* protected speech or petitioning." *Cotati*, 29 Cal. 4th 78.

One court noted: "We publish this opinion, however, to emphasize that a cross-complaint or independent lawsuit filed in response to, or in retaliation for, threatened or actual litigation is not subject to the anti- SLAPP statute simply because it may be viewed as an oppressive litigation tactic. No lawsuit is properly subject to a special motion to strike under [the anti-SLAPP statute] unless its allegations arise from acts in furtherance of the right of petition or free speech." *Kajima Engineering & Construction, Inc. v. City of Los Angeles* (2002) 95 Cal.App.4th 921, 924, 116 Cal.Rptr.2d 187 (2002).

Where a claim is based on an actual, present conflict between the parties regarding the legal interpretation of particular legislation, the defendant does not meet its burden on the first prong. *Cotati*, 29 Cal. 4th at 79; *see also*, *Alameda County Land Use Assn. v. City of Hayward*, 38 Cal App. 4th 1716, 1723, 45 Cal. Rptr.2d 752 (1995).

The trial court correctly determined that the City's declaratory judgment action was based on the actual, present conflict regarding the interpretation of the PRA in connection with RCW 9.73.090(1)(c), and Egan, therefore, could not meet the first prong of RCW 4.24.525.

Egan tries to support his argument by misreading and mischaracterizing cases. The two cases Egan relies on actually support the City's position. *Equilon Enterprises, LLC v. Consumer Cause,* 29 Cal.4th 53, 124 Cal.Rptr. 2d 507 (2002); *Dove Audio, Inc. v. Rosenfeld, Meyer & Susman,* 47 Cal. App.4th 777, 54 Cal.Rptr.2d 830 (1996). *Equilon Enterprises* cannot be interpreted, as Egan contends, to mean that any declaratory judgment action brought against a party who threatens litigation is a SLAPP. The declaratory judgment in *Equilon Enterprises* was not based on an actual, present legal dispute between the parties; rather, it was a direct attack on the sufficiency of a party's Proposition 65 notices.

California Proposition 65 is a voter-approved initiative that enacted the Safe Drinking Water and Toxic Enforcement Act of 1986, California Health and Safety Code § 25249.5 et seq. Under Proposition 65, the state must publish a list of chemicals known to cause cancer or reproductive toxicity and businesses must provide warnings before consumers are exposed to such chemicals. American Meat Institute v. Leeman, 180 Cal.Rptr. 4th 728, 742, 102 Cal. Rptr.2d 759 (2009). A private citizen may bring an action to enforce Proposition 65 in certain instances, but at least 60 days before filing a lawsuit the citizen must give notice

to the alleged violator, the Attorney General, district attorneys and city attorneys in the jurisdiction where the violation occurred. *Id.* 102 Cal. Rptr.2d at 764.

In *Equilon Enterprises*, a consumer group served an oil company's predecessors in interest, the state attorney general, a county district attorney, and a city attorney with Proposition 65 notices of intent to sue for alleged groundwater pollution. Rather than address the underlying pollution dispute, the oil company brought a declaratory judgment action asking for a determination that the notices of intent to sue were invalid as well as an injunction barring the group from filing litigation based on the allegedly defective notices. *Equilon Enterprises*, 29 Cal.4th at 57. Far from holding that any declaratory judgment action filed after even arguably protected activity has taken place is a SLAPP, the court specifically held that "'the act underlying the plaintiff's cause' or 'the act which forms the basis for the plaintiff's cause of action' must *itself* have been an act in furtherance of the right of petition or free speech." *Id.* at 66, *citing Computer Xpress, Inc. v. Jackson*, 93 Cal.App, 4th 993, 1003, 113 Cal.Rptr.2d 625 (2001).

The result in *Equilon Enterprises* would have been different if rather than directly attacking the consumer group's Proposition 65 notices, the oil company had instead sought declaratory relief based on an actual dispute. For example, a declaratory judgment action brought by two trade associations in response to Proposition 65 notices was not a SLAPP where the associations sought a

determination that the Federal Meat Inspection Act pre-empted Proposition 65.

American Meat Institute, 180 Cal. App. 4th at 742, n.14.

Egan's reliance on *Dove Audio* is equally misplaced. Just as in *Equilon Enterprises*, the complaint in *Dove Audio* directly attacked pre-litigation communication as opposed to being based on an underlying legal dispute. In *Dove Audio*, celebrities including Audrey Hepburn had made a recording, and the recording company was contractually obligated to pay a percentage of the royalties to charity. A lawyer for Hepburn's estate sent a letter to the other celebrities expressing an intention to lodge a complaint with the state attorney general requesting an investigation into whether the recording company had paid those royalties. The letter also sought the support of the recipients. In response, the recording company brought an action against the lawyer for *libel* and *interference with an economic relationship*. *Dove Audio, Inc.*, 47 Cal. App.4th at 780.

The *Dove Audio* suit did not address the underlying contractual dispute. Rather, it directly attacked the lawyer's prelitigation letter. As a result, it is the type of classic SLAPP described by George Pring, who with Penelope Canan, coined the term "SLAPP." See, George W. Pring, *SLAPPs: Strategic Lawsuits against Public Participation*, 7 Pace Envtl. L. Rev. 3, 9.

Perhaps if the City had brought a defamation claim against Egan or sought to enjoin him from making public records requests in the future, he might have an argument that the anti-SLAPP statute applied. But that is not the case here. Compare this case to an Arizona case where a school district brought a declaratory action to enjoin four individuals from making any future requests without leave of court. The requesters moved for dismissal under the state anti-SLAPP statute, but the court did not reach that issue because it could resolve the matter under Arizona public records law. Congress Elementary School District No. 17 of Yavapai County v. Warren, 227 Ariz. 16, 251 P.3d 395, 397 (2011).

California courts have ruled that an anti-SLAPP motion is not an appropriate challenge to a declaratory judgment action on whether an initiative is within the scope of the initiative power. e.g. City of Riverside v. Stansbury, 155 Cal. App. 4th 1582, 66 Cal.Rptr.3d 862 (2007). In reviewing the first prong of this test, the court stated:

The City filed a lawsuit against Stansbury and RPR (respondents), seeking a declaration that the proposed initiative was invalid as it was not a proper subject for a local initiative. Contending that the City's lawsuit was "an affront to [their] First Amendment rights," Stansbury and RPR countered with an anti-SLAPP motion (Code Civ. Proc., § 425.16), which was granted. On appeal, the City maintains that its complaint was directed not at protected conduct, as required under the anti-SLAPP statute, but rather, at the validity of the proposed initiative. We agree and reverse the order. Indeed, as the City and amici curiae point out, if the trial court's ruling is allowed to stand, no one could ever challenge an initiative's constitutionality prior to the election, which is contrary to law.

Id. at 1585 (footnotes omitted).

By analogy, the Court should hold that an anti-SLAPP motion is not an appropriate challenge to a declaratory judgment on whether a particular exemption applies. Otherwise, no one could ever seek declaratory judgment under RCW 42.56.540 - A result that is contrary to law.

D. Even if Egan Had Met the First Prong of the Anti-SLAPP Statute, the City Presented Clear and Convincing Evidence of a Probability of Prevailing on its Declaratory Judgment Action.

Whether or not the Court determines that Mr. Egan has met the first prong of the anti-SLAPP statute, his motion would fail because the City showed clear and convincing evidence of a probability of prevailing on the merits of its declaratory judgment action.

Clear and convincing evidence is evidence sufficient to convince the court that the fact in issue is highly probable. *Tiger Oil Corp. v. Yakima County*, 158 Wn. App. 553, 562, 22 P.3f 936 (2010). In order to grant injunctive relief under the PRA, a court must make three findings: (1) that a specific exemption applies; (2) that disclosure would not be in the public interest; and (3) disclosure would substantially and irreparably damage a person or a vital government interest. *Soter*, 162 Wn.2d at 757. The City's evidence showed a high probability that it will prevail on its declaratory judgment action.

1. The City Showed That RCW 9.73.090(1)(c) Applies to the Requested Videos.

In Washington, the consent of all parties to a conversation is generally required to legally record it, but the Privacy Act (RCW Chapt. 9.73) has carved out exceptions allowing one-party consent in limited instances, including in-car recordings. The portion of the Privacy Act that applies to these recordings, RCW 9.73.090(1)(c), contains specific directions and limitations regarding access to those recordings:

No sound or video recording made under this subsection (1)(c) may be duplicated and made available to the public by a law enforcement agency subject to this section until final disposition of any criminal or civil litigation which arises from the event or events which were recorded. Such sound recordings shall not be divulged or used by any law enforcement agency for any commercial purpose.

The Privacy Act not only prohibits public disclosure of in-car recordings before final disposition of related criminal and civil litigation, it makes the wrongful disclosure of any recording in violation of the Act a crime. RCW 9.73.080 (2). In enacting RCW 9.73.090, the Legislature intended "to provide a very limited exception to the restrictions on disclosure of intercepted communications." Laws of 2000, ch. 195, sec. 1. The Supreme Court has held that, even though conversations recorded during routine traffic stops are not private, law enforcement agencies must strictly comply with RCW 9.73.090(1)(c). *Lewis v. State Dept. of Licensing*, 157 Wn.2d 446, 451-2 and 465-66, 139 P.3d 1078, 1080 and 1086-87 (2006).

The choice of the word "public" in the statute is not explained, but a reasonable inference is that the individual who is the subject of the recording is not the "public" and, therefore, may have a greater right to access the recording. This Court's interpretation of the jail records statute, RCW 70.48.100(2), is instructive. Sargent v. Seattle Police Dept., 167 Wn. App. 1, 26 P.3d 1006 (2011). That statute says that "records of a person confined in jail shall be held in confidence and shall be made available only to criminal justice agencies ... or ... [u]pon the written permission of the person." This Court held that an individual may have his own records, and where the subject's attorney makes the request, it amounts to a grant of permission. Id., 167 Wn.App. at 20. Similarly, SPD provides copies of in-car videos to the subjects of those videos upon request. SPD provides copies on in-car videos to the subjects' attorneys. See, RCW 9.73.100. It also provides them in response to criminal and civil discovery requests.

Courts try to read an "other statute" and the PRA so that they can be harmonized. See *Deer v. Dept. of Social & Health Svc.*. 122 Wn.App, 84, 91-93, 93 P.3d 195, 198 (2004). The *Deer* court analyzed the interaction between the PRA and RCW Chapt. 13.50, which provides procedures for obtaining access to juvenile records. The court found no conflict between the two statutes because RCW Chapt. 13.50 specifies an alternative means of obtaining juvenile records that "balances and protects the privacy needs of the juvenile and his or her family." *Deer*, 122 Wn.App. at 92. As a result, RCW Chapt. 13.50 provides the

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